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Introduction


Much of the history of navigable waterways in Great Britain has been written down, but there still remains the chance of previously unpublished sources being discovered. There is also the fact that published works are not always comprehensive and there are gaps where histories have not been published.


For the Trent and Mersey Canal a comprehensive history was produced by David & Charles in 1979, with Jean Lindsay as author. Other accounts have followed, including a detailed study by Peter Lead and a comprehensive account on trade by Tom Foxon. As more information has come to light since, however, a fresh account is needed to cover the modern findings as well as to provide a new understanding of the canal and the pivotal role it played in creating the canal network in Britain.


The Trent and Mersey Canal, as first built, was one of a group of waterways engineered by James Brindley. Uniting the River Mersey and the River Trent, it formed the core of the British canal network and provided the means for the movement of goods and minerals through to the ports of Liverpool and Hull. The Staffordshire and Worcestershire Canal, which joined the Trent and Mersey Canal, created a link with the Severn and the ports of Gloucester and Bristol. These two waterways provided a navigation transport backbone for trading by water.


Both the Severn and the Trent had a natural navigable limit. For the Severn, craft could reach as far as Pool Quay, near Welshpool, although most journeys were confined to trips as far as Shrewsbury, where road carriage was used to reach Chester. Bridgnorth and Bewdley were also convenient transhipment places for the West Midlands. With the Trent, the upper limit gradually moved upstream from Nottingham to Wilden Ferry, where the road from Derby to London crossed. The canal proposal was opposed by a number of alternate schemes. First, for those who preferred river development, there were the examples of the Aire and Calder and Calder and Hebble navigations in Yorkshire, the Mersey and Irwell navigation in Lancashire, and the River Weaver in Cheshire. All of these waterways had been made navigable through short lock cuts and played a vital role in manufacturing, serving cotton mills, woollen mills and the salt works. River development towards the Midlands had reached Burton upon Trent through the Upper Trent Navigation and there were other schemes to extend the river navigation beyond Burton to use the Trent and Tame to reach Tamworth. Most notable of these was that of Henry Bradford.


For this study, history is the starting point. There is much more to the story of the Trent and Mersey Canal, which celebrated 250 years of commercial existence in the year 2020.




CHAPTER I


Creation of the Trent and Mersey Canal


Throughout history, events occur that can shape the future for the common good. In past times the use of water to turn a waterwheel was put to commercial advantage and gradually brought industry to the river side. Managing the water supply to the mill was part of that gradual improvement and the skills in making new water courses formed the bedrock for the construction of artificial waterways.


Eighteenth-century English engineer James Brindley worked first as a millwright before gaining skills in the management of water resources. When navigation to the West Midlands from the Trent began to be considered, the primary question was what type of scheme to pursue. Brindley favoured a navigable canal, where the supply of water could be controlled; navigation that relied on a river could be disrupted by issues of flooding and drought, and any disruption would limit trade. Even in modern times, the power of nature has continued to be potentially extremely destructive, as in the case with Storm Ciara and the damage to the Figure of Three Locks on the Calder and Hebble Navigation, in February 2020.


Early Plans


The growing demands of industry in Birmingham, the Potteries and Wolverhampton led to a pressing need to improve local transport networks. The nearest navigations were the River Severn and the River Trent. Proposals to extend those navigations were considered during the eighteenth century, when the needs of industry and merchants came to have greater influence on transport innovation. In 1755 William Taylor and John Eyes surveyed a navigation route between Liverpool and Hull at the request of a group of Liverpool merchants, and chiefly financed by a Mr Hardman. However, this scheme was overtaken by the Sankey Canal project, which drew the merchants’ support – and finance – away from the ambitious Trent and Mersey venture.


In 1758 Thomas Broade suggested a canal to link the Trent with the Mersey. Initially limited to a stretch from Stoke-on-Trent to Wilden on the Trent, it was to be about 40 miles in length, 8 yards wide and 1 yard deep, with locks to pound up the water and make it as dead as the canals in Holland.


With Broade’s plan, a canal on to Cheshire was thought to be an ‘expence too great’. A very good navigation might be made from Northwich to Lawtonwich, which was 5 miles from Burslem, where this Trent navigation might be easily brought. To link the two navigations, a new road for carriages and horses might be made from Lawton through Harecastle Vale to Burslem.


James Brindley made his first surveys in 1758 for a canal route to link Long Bridge (Longport) with Kings Mill on the Trent. His second survey was made between 13 December 1758 and 16 September 1759. The surveys were recorded in his ‘daylanded book’. The places he mentions in connection with the canal route are Newcastle (under Lyme) (13 December 1758); Lichfield (15 December 1758); Harecastle to Lichfield and Alerwas (Alrewas) Mill (10–17 May 1759); Harecastle to Ape Dale (20 May 1759). According to his book, on 2 September 1759 he ‘set out for Lichfield Survey to Tamworth’, on 8 September 1759 he ‘Surveyed for Wilden’, and on 16 September 1759 he ‘Returnd.’ The result of his labours was the proposed canals from the Trent to Long Bridge and Lichfield.


Later, with John Smeaton, Brindley came up with various improvements to this scheme to Lichfield, Tamworth and the Potteries. At the time, Brindley was working on different navigation schemes, most notably the Bridgewater Canal, which first linked the Duke of Bridgewater’s collieries at Worsley Delph with Manchester. This waterway had been the subject of change and alteration. The work was under the supervision of John Gilbert, agent for the Duke, but Brindley was employed on the canal from Worsley to Manchester that involved the crossing of the River Irwell by an aqueduct at Barton. Brindley was then associated with the extension towards the Mersey at the Hempstones, as well as the extension to the terminus at Castlefields in Manchester. There was also an intended canal from Sale Moor to Stockport, but this branch was not made.


The Bridgewater Canal was a project that aimed to create a level waterway through the creation of embankments, aqueducts and cuttings. When completed, the new waterway promised to rival the existing river navigation, the Mersey and Irwell, which served central Manchester and Salford and had provided the first water transport route from the Port of Liverpool. A variety of goods were carried up stream to Warrington and Manchester, but it was cotton, one of the pillars of the industrial revolution, that was the main contributor to the wealth of the region. Hundreds of five-and six-storey factories were built in the region around Manchester and it was the Mersey and Irwell Navigation that had given impetus to that trade. The Bridgewater promised to improve the transport of goods even more, as it would not be limited by flooding or drought, as the river could be.
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Pack horse trains crossed difficult terrain moving goods across the country.





By 1765, and as work on the Bridgewater Canal towards the Hempstones proceeded from Manchester, the 1755 canal scheme to unite the River Mersey with the River Trent was revived This concept was much more than a uniting of two ports – it was a cross-country waterway with the potential of serving communities and industry along its course. Uncertain and poor road communications with the Potteries were factors that aided the argument to make the canal. Roads were generally in poor condition and the pack horse was a common means of moving goods. Roads were however being improved through the turnpike system, where tolls provided funds for maintenance and improvement.


Josiah Wedgwood


The innovations in industry that occurred in England in the eighteenth century would have been short-lived had there not been a coincident revolution in transport. As Josiah Wedgwood, potter and entrepreneur of Burslem, observed in his ‘Address to the Young Inhabitants of the Potteries’, a printed pamphlet designed to answer workers’ complaints, the infrastructure needed urgent improvement. It was getting increasingly difficult to travel by road. Strings or trains of pack horses provided the main means of moving raw materials and finished products at the time, but the routes were infested with highwaymen and robbers. At the same time, productivity was increasing and the region needed to develop better connections with the rest of the country and with the expanding foreign market. Josiah was an active supporter and promoter of the turnpike roads, particularly those connecting the Potteries to the ports including Liverpool and Chester via Winsford, and Bristol through Bewdley and Bridgnorth. In a speech to the inhabitants of North Staffordshire at the Town Hall of Newcastle-under-Lyme in 1763, he outlined the advantages of such a road system. Wedgwood went on to enlist the help of Lord Gower, a local landowner and Staffordshire Member of Parliament, in seeing the new Turnpike Bill through Parliament. Nine Turnpike Acts were passed in 1766. Later Acts of 1777 and 1783 were specifically aimed at linking the local road system to the main London routes.


The concept of the Trent and Mersey Canal, with a promise to link the Mersey with Hull on the east coast, was developed by some of the most influential industrialists of the age. Josiah Wedgwood’s personal involvement in the scheme was substantial. From early meetings with James Brindley to cutting the first section of sod at Middleport, Wedgwood was at the heart of its planning and delivery. He was one of a select group of people who formed the basis of a committee,which was to guide the canal development as well as prevent any monopoly that might arise. They faced a daunting task; there were alternative proposed navigations promoted by influential people who might stop the Trent and Mersey Canal in favour of their own plan. A certain amount of secrecy was required and at first only minimal information about the plans was made public.


Raising Support and Finance


The first meeting of those men interested in and involved with the Trent and Mersey Canal was called on 10 June 1765 at The Crown, a coaching inn in Stone, Staffordshire. Josiah Wedgwood had written to his brother John, on 3 April 1765, stating that this scheme of navigation was undoubtedly the best thing that could possibly be planned for this country, and expressing the hope that there was a great degree of probability of its being carried into execution. Wedgwood’s future business partner Thomas Bentley was also a strong advocate of the inland navigation system being proposed. As a Liverpool-based merchant, Bentley had a vested business interest in a canal system that would link the Midlands to the port of Liverpool. Both men played their part in soliciting the various landowners, MPs and authorities in an attempt to gain a support base that would see their proposal as the one to back. One important factor in this plan was a proposed navigation to the developing port of Hull. For Liverpool merchants, the hazardous nature of the shipping route to places such as the Baltic Sea, around Scotland, became a compelling reason for an inland route.


A general meeting, the second one in this regard, was held at the Old Roebuck Inn in Newcastle-under- Lyme on 27 June, to consider an application to Parliament for an Act to make a canal to unite Liverpool with Hull with branches to Lichfield, Birmingham and Newcastle. As this was not the only inland navigation scheme being proposed, it was important that Wedgwood gained the support of those men capable of make his vision come true. Josiah’s involvement with the canal scheme was underpinned by a strong belief in the benefits that it would bring to industry. Indeed, such was his faith in it that he offered his services as Treasurer for free, and also became a signatory to a £10,000 indemnity. Wedgwood saw the canal as a valuable resource as his pottery manufacturing company grew in size and popularity. There were financial benefits to be had from an improved system of transport for his bulky raw materials, which included clay and flints. The flints often came by way of the East Coast and the Trent and white clay had to be carried in wagons from the Severn. Travelling in the other direction, the finished pottery goods were susceptible to breakage on their overland journey to Liverpool.


The canal scheme was supported by other like-minded people, including John Sparrow, solicitor of Newcastle-under-Lyme, who would come to play a pivotal role in the promotion of the new canal. The Duke of Bridgewater and his agent John Gilbert had an important influence on the final proposals. The meeting between Wedgwood, Sparrow and the Duke of Bridgewater at Worsley on 6 July 1765 appears to have been a significant step in deciding the layout of the future canal. One decision was the incorporation of a junction between the Bridgewater Canal and the new navigation. For this to happen, the Duke of Bridgewater had to obtain a private Act to alter the route of the Bridgewater through Cheshire. Instead of joining the Mersey at the Hempstones, it would be diverted inland to terminate at Preston Brook, where the junction with the Trent and Mersey would be made. The section of the route between Preston Brook and the Mersey at Runcorn (part of the proposed new navigation) would also become part of the Bridgewater Canal.


A printed notice was published, advocating the general advantages of the new navigation, entitled ‘Considerations on the proposal of making a communication between the ports of Liverpool and Hull’. This three-page document acknowledged the Bridgewater Canal and stated that some public-spirited gentlemen had a scheme for opening a communication between Liverpool and Hull by the means of a navigable canal. The advantages of canals over river navigations were discussed. It was observed that it was not unusual on one section of the Mersey and Irwell Navigation near Barton to see seven or eight men labouring to drag a boat along the Irwell, whilst one horse would draw two or three boats at a great rate over the river at that place.


The Duke of Bridgewater had provided the finance for the Bridgewater Canal. As the proposed navigation was a more ambitious scheme, it was suggested that the funds should be raised by the issuing of shares, with interest being paid to shareholders in return for their investment. It was a concept that was to provide the means for the construction of not only this navigation, but also others that were to follow.


Another key step was taken with a meeting held at Wolseley Bridge on 30 December 1765, an event that attracted landowners, gentlemen, traders and manufacturers. The promoters of the Trent and Mersey Canal – sometimes referred to as the Gower-Egerton-Wedgwood Lobby – used this meeting to gain further support. Working on an estimate that £101,000 would be needed to complete the project, they proposed that the cost should be distributed between 505 shares of £200 each. James Brindley had drawn on his previous surveys, alone and with John Smeaton, to come up with a plan for a canal that would be 93½ miles long, passing to the south of the Peak District and piercing the high ridge at Harecastle by a long tunnel, where soughs, or side tunnels, would be cut to serve the Golden Hill coal and mineral mines. It was estimated that some 76 locks would be needed and there would be branches to other important towns.


Subscribers were found to finance the necessary proceedings through Parliament, and a second and larger subscription was begun for the actual construction of the canal. For the second subscription, collectors were appointed in different parts of the country for the collection of money for the shares:




Mr Bentley, Liverpool


Mr Tomkinson, Manchester


James Ford, Town Clerk, Congleton


Mr Sparrow, Newcastle-under-Lyme


Mr Stevenson, Mercer, Stafford


Francis Cobb, Lichfield


Mr Boulton, Birmingham


Mr Willington, Tamworth


Benjamin Molineaux, Wolverhampton


Benjamin Cooper, Walsall


John Finch, Dudley


William Musgrave, Burton


Samuel Crompton, Derby


Abel Smith, Nottingham


Samuel Twentyman, Newark


Mr Maddison, Gainsborough


Isaac Broadby, Hull





Fourteen days were to be allowed for the subscription money to be collected and at the end of that period the funds were to be transferred to John Sparrow at Newcastle. Should the subscription be incomplete, another fourteen days would be allowed.


Opposition and Alternatives


Perhaps inevitably, there were objections to the scheme put forward by Wedgwood and his colleagues, chiefly on the part of promoters of a rival river and canal scheme. This aimed to join the Weaver and use the existing navigation to reach the Mersey. Supporters of the Weaver link included the Corporation of Liverpool, which, according to a letter from Josiah Wedgwood to Erasmus Darwin (10 July 1765), had voted £200 to encourage the scheme for a ‘Mersey-Weaver Canal’.


The Weaver had originally been made navigable using locks made of wood, but there had been a programme of replacement using masonry, made possible principally through the efforts of lock designer Robert Pownall (1735–1780). Initial improvements had met with certain structural failure, but, after Pownall’s promotion to Director and Surveyor of Works in 1760, new locks and weirs were successfully made that would benefit trade on the Weaver. The making of a navigable branch to Wilton Mill (1764–1765) provided the basis of a junction with the proposed Macclesfield Canal.
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Northern part of the Trent and Mersey Navigation Survey.
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The Trent and Mersey Canal Network.





One keen supporter of the canal to Macclesfield was Charles Roe, a person of influence who had built up mining and smelting businesses in Scotland, Wales and Ireland. He wanted the canal for coal supply as the existing coal mines at Macclesfield had been worked out.


Despite the improvement to the Weaver, there was a major obstacle for a junction with the proposed navigation from the Trent to the Mersey. With Manchester traffic being made to lock down to the Mersey and up again into the Bridgewater Canal, it was not viewed as the best option. This became an important factor in determining the canal route to Preston Brook.


There was also the possibility that a junction might be made with the Upper Trent Navigation at Burton. With the Burton trade, the Upper Trent had been made navigable to the Bond End district of that town, with a warehouse made nearby. Those who supported the new navigation from the Trent to the Mersey were not keen on making a junction at Burton; one reason they gave was the imperfect state of the Upper Trent Navigation through the two locks at Kings Mill and Burton Forge. There was another issue in that the former owner of that navigation, Henry Haynes, had opposed other traders on his waterway. By the time plans had been made for the navigation from the Trent to the Mersey, there was a new owner, the Burton Boat Company, which seems to have had a different attitude. However, the legacy of Henry Haynes was such that a decision was taken to locate the junction with the Trent at Derwent Mouth. It was also decided to make the canal bargewidth from Horninglow.


Those who supported a junction with the Weaver were also in favour of a canal proposed to run from the Weaver to Macclesfield and Stockport. Such proposals also included a junction with the Bridgewater Canal near Manchester, but had the potential to divert trade away from the Bridgewater Canal. Furthermore, these supporters devised a totally different plan from the navigation to link the Trent and Mersey, which included a proposed canal from Winsford to the Severn at Tern Bridge and a branch from that to Wilden on the Trent. Such a scheme was equal to whatever the Trent and Mersey Canal could offer; indeed, it could be seen as more favourable, because a canal link to the Severn had still to be decided upon.


The key to both plans was the gaining of parliamentary approval and it was the Macclesfield Canal bill that made more rapid progress through Parliament, reaching the House of Lords in advance of the bill relating to the Trent and Mersey Canal. The committee heard the proposals for the Macclesfield Canal and then the objections. One of the principal objectors was of course the Duke of Bridgewater, who was able to benefit from James Brindley’s expert evidence and succeeded in having the bill stopped in the House of Lords in May 1766. One factor that came to Brindley’s aid was the bill for the Staffordshire and Worcestershire Canal, which was prepared and rushed through Parliament in 1766.


The bill for the Trent and Mersey Canal was presented to Parliament on 18 February 1766 and authorized on 14 May. James Brindley was retained as surveyor, with Hugh Henshall as clerk of works. John Sparrow became clerk to the company, with the task of guiding the project through all the land purchases and the many legal obstacles that might present themselves. The Staffordshire and Worcestershire Canal bill received royal assent on the same day. Together, they provided the means of linking the Mersey, Severn and Trent. James Brindley then went further with two canal schemes, the Coventry and the Oxford, which would join the Trent and Mersey Canal at Fradley with the River Thames at Oxford.


The 1766 Act gave the names of one hundred proprietors who would control the operation, fourteen days from the passing of the act (see above).


There was much celebration in the Potteries at the passing of the 1766 Act. The Trent and Mersey Canal was to prove indispensable for Josiah Wedgwood and the Wedgwood Company for over 150 years as its main transport and distribution link. The group of waterways that developed around it were at the core of the British canal network.







	
No

	Name




	1
	Earl Gower




	2
	Duke of Bridgewater




	3
	Reverend William Cotton




	4
	Reverend Mr Martin




	5
	Reverend William Willetts




	6
	Ann Abbott




	7
	Mary Abbot




	8
	Thomas Ames




	9
	Thomas Anson




	10
	Richard Bailye




	11
	John Barker




	12
	Matthew Boulton




	13
	Samuel Bowyer




	14
	John Brindley




	15
	Isaac Hawkins Brown




	16
	John Bull




	17
	Cary Butt




	18
	Honora Byrd




	19
	John Byrd




	20
	Thomas Cartwright




	21
	George Challoner




	22
	John Chatterley




	23
	Francis Cobb




	24
	Thomas Cobb




	25
	Henry Copestake




	26
	Dorothy Cotton




	27
	Elizabeth Cotton, junior




	28
	Richard Davenport




	29
	Thomas Deakin




	30
	Joseph Denman




	31
	Thomas Dicken Junior




	32
	Richard Edge




	33
	Nathaniel Edwards




	34
	Samuel Egerton




	35
	James Falconer




	36
	John Fletcher




	37
	Samuel Garbett




	38
	John Gilbert




	39
	Thomas Gilbert




	40
	Miss Levenson Gower




	41
	Edward Green




	42
	Francis Hickin




	43
	Richard Hill




	44
	James Hollingshead




	45
	Abraham Hoskins




	46
	Charles Howard




	47
	James Hubbard




	48
	Richard Kilby




	49
	Francis Laine




	50
	Abel Colin Launder




	51
	Robert Lawton




	52
	Samuel Lea




	53
	Edward Leigh




	54
	Edward Lester




	55
	William Mc Gwire




	56
	John Mare




	57
	Mary Mattock




	58
	Ann Mompisson




	59
	Sarah Nixon




	60
	Humphrey Palmer




	61
	Samuel Palmer




	62
	John Phillips




	63
	Mr Randall




	64
	Owen Ruffhead




	65
	Mr Russell




	66
	Joseph Ryley




	67
	Edward Salmon




	68
	John Seaman




	69
	William Seaman




	70
	Anna Seward




	71
	Thomas Seaward




	72
	Charles Simpson




	73
	Stephen Simpson




	74
	Jeremiah Smith




	75
	Ann Sneyd




	76
	Edward Sneyd




	77
	John Sneyd




	78
	William Strahan




	79
	John Stevenson




	80
	Thomas Storer




	81
	Francis Swynfen




	82
	William Thompson




	83
	John Bladon Tinker




	84
	William Tomkinson




	85
	James Tunstall




	86
	George Twemlow




	87
	Thomas Twemlow




	88
	Edward Tyson




	89
	William Walsh




	90
	John Wedgwood (Smallwood)




	91
	John Wedgwood (Burslem)




	92
	George Whately




	93
	George White




	94
	Snowden White




	95
	Thomas Whieldon




	96
	Richard Whitworth




	97
	Thomas Weston




	98
	Eleanor Wooley




	99
	Richard Wright




	100
	John Yates











CHAPTER 2


Engineering and Infrastructure


Building the Trent and Mersey Canal was the most ambitious navigation scheme undertaken at the time. The project would take eleven years to complete, from Derwent Mouth, on the River Trent, to Preston Brook in Cheshire. When it was first built, it was nearly 94 miles long, a narrow waterway with tight bends and locks that were in need of improvement. The modern canal is now 93½ miles in length. Alterations were made throughout the existence of the canal, with significant changes being proposed by a number of notable engineers.


Early Construction Work


Work started on making Harecastle Tunnel as soon as possible. Contractors began the task of cutting the canal primarily in Staffordshire, with a section between Armitage through Fradley towards Alrewas. In an early report by John Sparrow, published in the Leeds Intelligencer on 6 October 1767, it was stated that ‘one lock was finished and others were in a state of great forwardness’. Four road bridges were completed and bricks and other materials were provided for many more. A bed of stone had been discovered at Armitage and this stone was intended to be used to build an aqueduct over the Trent at Alrewas. Other short sections of canal, each about half a mile long, had been made in Cheshire and Derbyshire. About six hundred men were involved in the construction of the navigation.
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Armitage Tunnel, North End.





After this initial work, construction was principally focused on Harecastle Tunnel and the canal in Staffordshire, where it proceeded both north and south from the initial cut. The navvies gradually extended the canal north through Rugeley and the important aqueduct over the Trent north of there, whilst others worked on the line to Derwent Mouth.


The original section included a short tunnel near Armitage. Also known as Hermitage Tunnel, this was the first canal tunnel to be opened for general navigation purposes in the United Kingdom (although it had been preceded by the mine canal tunnel at Worsley, which joined the Bridgewater Canal and was used specifically for coal transport).
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Bridge 53 and Woodend Lock.





From Armitage the waterway was level through Kings Bromley to Woodend Lock. This was the first of nine locks on the section to the River Trent. Each lock was made to fit a narrow boat and was of a design that was common to both the Staffordshire and Worcestershire Canal and the Trent and Mersey Canals. Indeed, contractors were sometimes moved between the two construction projects. These locks included a group of five placed close together at Fradley (Shade House Lock–Hunt’s Lock). Fradley also had a storage reservoir constructed later.
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Bridge 46, Gaskell’s Bridge, Alrewas.





Land along the route of the navigation was either purchased by the company or leased. At Fradley it was leased from its owners. All the land and estates of George Adams situated at Fradley and Alrewas were leased in agreements made in 1767 for yearly rents. Subsequently, much of the canal land at Fradley had rents payable to Lord Anson.


As construction progressed, the supply of water became increasingly important for the contractors’ needs. When a length of canal was finished and filled with water, that section became available for the movement of construction materials. At first it was stone and bricks, and later clay for puddling and spoil were transported by boat. Hand-made bricks were made in temporary kilns using suitable local clays where available.


Contractors had different roles. Those employed to cut the canal were paid according to the type of cutting, with the depth and the types of substance through which they were digging dictating set prices. There were the bricklayers, who made the bridges and the locks, and the stone masons, who provided coping stones for the bridges and the quoins for the gates. Then there were the carpenters, who made the gates and other timber items such as fences and even some bridges. Gardening labourers created boundary lines between the canal towing path and the adjoining property of other landowners by planting so-called ‘quick hedges’, formed from a type of thorn bush that was noted for the speed at which it grew.
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Lock 12, Alrewas.
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The River Trent section at Alrewas.





At Alrewas the proposed aqueduct was dispensed with in favour of joining the river for a short section to Wychnor (Wichnor). The revised route incorporated a private canal, a short waterway that had been made to supply water from the Trent to Wychnor Forge, a rolling mill and slitting mill on the river at ‘Wichnor’. The partners in this scheme were John Barker, Erasmus Darwin and Samuel Garbett, an acid manufacturer of Birmingham and Prestonpans. Negotiations began in 1763 to buy the land for a canal 14 feet wide and 990 feet long, from Wichnor flour mill to the Trent. The owner of this mill was persuaded to relocate to Alrewas Mill (then disused). Making this short canal involved a bridge to carry the turnpike over it, which was agreed by the turnpike trustees in 1764. Wichnor corn mill was converted into a forge during 1765.


Samuel Garbett was a keen supporter of inland navigation and provided assistance and advice to Josiah Wedgwood, when the Trent and Mersey Canal scheme was in the process of development. He was also a shareholder of this navigation. The width of the mill waterway chosen is an indication of a use for future navigation. Wychnor lock was made north of the turnpike bridge and the length beyond enabled boats to reach the forge.
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Bridge 42 at Wychnor.
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Dove Aqueduct.
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Bridge 36, Roving Bridge at Dunstall.





Contractors building this canal had reached Burton upon Trent by 1768, at the same time as the local landowner Lord Paget authorized the Burton Boat Company to make the Bond End Canal from the Trent. An intended junction with the Trent and Mersey Canal was prevented by the canal committee, as they were intent on moving on to Wilden and did not want to lose trade via the Upper Trent Navigation. The compromise was an interchange wharf and warehouse for the trade at Shobnall. The Burton Boat Company was then the lessee of the Upper Trent Navigation and, despite the adverse publicity that had accompanied the promotion of the Trent and Mersey Canal, were active traders along the Upper Trent and the River Trent to Gainsborough, using a fleet of Trent boats.


Contractors continued working on cutting the section east of Burton, and Horninglow became the interchange point planned for barge and narrowboat traffic. This place also provided a useful interchange between the turnpike and the canal. The brewers of Burton were sending their produce by road to Horninglow Wharf. The section between Shobnall and Horninglow remained narrow, but the main breweries were then placed beside the Trent and water-based traffic favoured the Burton Boat Company trade.


One important engineering achievement was the River Dove Aqueduct, which was close to the road bridge, known as the Monks Bridge. The aqueduct carried the canal across the River Dove on a structure made principally from brick – bricklayers were recorded as working on it in 1769. This length of the canal contained a group of five aqueducts: Claymills, River Dove Floodwater, River Dove, River Dove Floodplain Second Aqueduct and the River Dove Floodplain First Aqueduct. After Bridge 26 (High Bridge), there were High Bridge Aqueduct and Eggington Brook Aqueduct. From there, the canal went on to Willington, where it was crossed by the turnpike that was used to convey goods to the Potteries from the Upper Trent Navigation. Barge-width locks (limited to barges up to 14 feet in breadth) were made at Stenson and Swarkestone. 




A ‘STANDARD FOR NARROW LOCKS’


A meeting held at the George Inn, Lichfield, on 14 December 1769, established a standard for narrow locks made on the Trent and Mersey Canal and the canals that were to be connected with it: the Birmingham, Coventry, Oxford, and Staffordshire and Worcestershire.


The report from the meeting read as follows:




It was proposed that a standing order be made at a General Assembly of all the Navigations that all the locks hereafter to be made shall be of a size not less than the dimensions following, viz, 74 feet 9 inches in length and 7 feet in width upon the sill, that the Depth of each canal in water shall not be less than 4 feet 4 inches, and that Mr. Brindley do take upon him the charge of inspecting the several locks and canals already made, to see that they in no material instance vary from such dimensions, and make his report thereof at each next succeeding General Assembly.





The aim of the standard was to ensure that craft trading along these canals would not be obstructed by locks of different dimensions and sizes. 





Opening to Commercial Traffic


By 1770 the cost of making the canal had risen to such an extent that extra capital was required. The original Act of Parliament had provided for £130,000; a new Act (10 Geo III c102) authorized powers to raise another £70,000 by new shares or by mortgage. The original Act of 1766 had also approved the Trent and Mersey Canal to join the Trent at, or near, Wilden and at this time the preferred junction of river and canal was intended to be west of the ferry.


Meanwhile, the contractors proceeded with their work and followed the River Trent at various distances from its north bank. By 1770, sufficient progress had been made to allow part of the canal to open to the trade. One section was finished at the end of March 1770 and, by 24 June 1770, there were plans in place to create a navigation to join the Trent. The closest the canal came was Cliff Wood, near Weston, where a temporary interchange of canal boats and Trent boats was first intended:


The Company of proprietors of the Navigation from the Trent to the Mersey hereby give notice, that this Navigation will be finished and open for Commerce from the Trent at or near Wilden Ferry, in the County of Derby, to Shutborough in the County of Stafford, (where it joins the canal now making to the Severn) on the 24th Day of June next. And they are now ready to contract for the Carriage of any quantity of goods between Shutborough and Wilden Ferry, or upon the Trent between Wilden Ferry and Gainsborough, to be conveyed immediately after the 24th Day of June.
Application to be made to Mr Henshall at Newchapel in the County of Stafford, Clerk of Works to the said Company; or Mr Joseph Smith, Wharfinger in Gainsborough.
Newcastle-under-Lyme, 12 April 1770


J SPARROW, Clerk to the said Company
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Swarkestone Lock
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The notice for the opening to Weston. Derby Mercury, 7 September 1770.





‘Shutborough’, or Shugborough, was actually the intended junction with the Staffordshire and Worcestershire Canal, which was then under construction.


The committee report of 17 April 1770 noted that 42½ miles of the navigation had been cut, banked and finished. From the Trent near Wilden Ferry to Great Hayward, the canal, 33 miles in length, was almost finished and 27½ miles were navigable. One lock and two bridges were to be completed and it was hoped that the aqueducts at Brindley Bank and the Dove would be completed by 24 June 1770.


The company’s plan was to open to commercial traffic on that June date and, with that in view, it had achieved the building, digging and erection of 22 locks, 68 road bridges, 24 large culverts or aqueducts and 24 smaller culverts. Contractors working on Harecastle Tunnel had vaulted and arched over 1,029 yards of the structure, whilst at Preston Brook Tunnel, 161 yards had been made. The Trent and Mersey Canal Company had fifteen boats built and other traders had seven boats for their use. Work on the canal had also continued northwards, following the route along the valley of the River Trent, and narrow locks were made at Colwich and Haywood.


Despite the June deadline, construction issues evidently delayed the opening to the trade and it was not until September 1770 that Weston Wharf was made available for traffic. The wharf, which enabled the transhipment of goods between narrow boats and Trent boats, was placed on a strip of land between the canal and River Trent. Company boats served the new warehouses at Great Hayward and Bromley, and the traffic in goods on this stretch represented the beginning of a trading entity that became Henshall & Co.
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